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Linden is a large frame and brick structure facing north in a park-1ike
setting at 1 Linden Place, Natchez, Mississippi. The principal block, which
is the oldest section of the house, is five bays wide and two stories high with
a three-bay, two-tiered portico placed on the center axis. Although the por-
tico bears some relation to the two-tiered porticoes popular in the Palladian
phase of Georgian architecture, the absence of a well-defined entablature and
the steep rake of the pediment illustrate a misunderstanding of classical
architecture typical of vernacular building. Flanking this block are one-story
wings with hipped roofs behind wide colonnades topped with balustrades. The
most notable and ambitious feature of the exterior is the elaborately carved
entrance frontispiece. Engaged columns flank the side lights and door and
support a frieze with geometric guilloche carvings and a returned cornice.
From this springs an elliptical arch containing a glazed fanlight with radiating
mullions. Flanking the entrance in the principal block are double-hung, twelve-
over-twelve windows, while the one-story wings are treated with six-over-six jib
windows. The entire wall area sheltered by the colonnade is stuccoed and scored
to give a more finished appearance than clapboard.

The rear (south) elevation is formed into a U-shaped courtyard by a two-
story brick dependency behind the west wing and the turning of the east wing
to form an east rear wing. As is typical of many Natchez dwellings, verandas
run along the three faces of the courtyard and are equipped with secondary stair-
cases and, more interestingly, with fixed blinds as a measure of protection
against inclement weather.

The principal block is arranged in a simple single-pile plan with an
open-well staircase rising from the center passage. Mantels in the east
(Tibrary) and west (parlor) chambers are designed with paneled pilasters,
friezes decorated with the chevron motif, and shelves. Window aprons in
the library repeat the chevron design but are missing in the parlor, due,
most likely, to the installation of a Colonial Revival window on the south
wall and the general "improvements" made to the room in the early twentieth
century. Federal woodwork is also preserved in the east wing, believed to
be the earliest addition, and in the two-story brick dependency. Greek Re-
vival woodwork, typical of the 1830s, is apparent in the west wing, which
houses the dining room. Hanging from the dining room ceiling is a large
punkah, a wooden fan manually operated by a system of ropes and pulleys.
Although there are other punkahs in the Natchez region, the one at Linden is
considered one of the finest and most graceful. The fan is designed with two
curved stiles framing a paneled area below an open comb-like set of vertical
spindles. This apparatus pivots from a ceiling mount which is treated with
S-shaped brackets and a shallow, paneled soffit.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Long considered one of the great Natchez mansions, Linden is a signifi-

cant example of vernacular Federal architecture, noted particularly for its
rare two-tiered portico and its splendid entrance frontispiece. With the
additions made during the Greek Revival period, Linden reached its present
picturesque form. Several features installed with the additions, such as
the extensive galleries, some protected by fixed blinds, the jib windows,
and the punkah, are important examples of the domestic architecture charac-
teristic of antebellum Natchez. In addition to its architectural interest,
Linden is significant as the residence of Thomas Buck Reed (1787-1829), an
important figure in the early political history of Mississippi.

Tradition maintains that the central two-story section of Linden dates
from the 1780s, when the land was owned by Alexander Moore. The contention
is in conflict with the 1803 document (Deed Book C:181) which divides Moore's
holdings among his three surviving sons. Interestingly, no mention is made in
the document of "messuages" or "tenements" located on the 161 acres containing
the site of Linden, while other such references, often detailed, are included
in several other property descriptions. From the division of Moore's estate,
the 161-acre tract became the property of James Moore, who named it "Oaklands"
and moved there from "the settled part of Natchez" some time before 1818. 1In
that year, Moore sold off ten acres to Thomas B. Reed, who had been residing
there "for sometime past" {Deed Book K:138). Although it is difficult to deter-
mine if the existing center section of Linden was Reed's residence in 1818, an
analysis of its Federal woodwork supports the hypothesis. In 1823, Moore sold
off from "Oaklands" an additional eight-and-one-half acres to Reed, who by that
time had named his residence "Reedland" (Deed Book N:275).

A native of Kentucky, Reed migrated to the Mississippi Territory in 1809
and began his career in law and politics. He was elected city clerk of Nat-
chez in 1811 but lost his bid for the U.S. Congress two years later. From
1821 to 1826 he served as attorney general of Mississippi. Elected to the
state house of representatives in 1825, he refused to take his seat, prefer-
ring instead to seek election by the state legislature to the U.S. Senate seat
vacated by the resignation of David Holmes, who resigned to become governor,
This maneuver proved successful, and Reed served a brief term from January 28,
1826, to March 3, 1827. Defeated for a full term in 1827, Reed regained his
senate seat in 1829 but died en route to Washington (Rowland Vol. 11:532-534).
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Linden is situated on a circular plot surrounded by Buena Vista Circle, a public
street which is partially undedicated.
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A few months before his death, Reed sold his Natchez residence to Dr. John
Ker, a prominent physician and planter, who renamed it "Linden." During the
Ker ownership (1829-1849), the front galleries were constructed, and the dining
room was added to match the existing east wing built by Reed. With these im-
provements Linden reached its present form.

In 1849, Linden was sold to Jane E. Connor, whose descendants continue to
occupy the residence. Although much of the surrounding land has been subdivided
into building lots, a spacious park-Tike setting was reserved for Linden.

9 - MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES
Missiasigpi Department of Archives and History. Subject File. Thomas Buck
eed.

Rowland, Dunbar. Mississippiz Comprising Sketches of Counties, Towns, Events,
Institutions, and Persons, in Cyclopedia Form. 3 vols. Atlanta: Southern

Historical PubTishing Association, 1907.




